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IN THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS 
SUMMIT COUNTY, OHIO 

MEMBER WILLIAMS, et al., 
Plaintiffs, 

v. 
KISLING, NESTICO & REDICK, LLC, et al. 

Defendants. 

Case No.: CV-2016-09-3928 

Judge James Brogan 

KNR DEFENDANTS’ MOTION TO 
COMPEL DEPOSITION OF ROBERT 
HORTON, ESQ. AND RESPONSE TO 
PLAINTIFFS’ MOTION FOR A 
PROTECTIVE ORDER 

Only one question remains for the Court to answer re: these depositions1:  Is Plaintiffs’ 

Attorney permitted to be the first attorney to ask questions at the discovery deposition of his own 

“star” witness, Robert Horton, even though the deposition was properly noticed by opposing 

counsel over a year ago?  Plaintiffs’ counsel claims entitlement because he issued a subpoena 

“last fall” and has been trying to schedule the deposition “for months.”   The reality is the 

Defendants have the true entitlement under the Ohio Rules of Civil Procedure because: 

1. The Defendants have been attempting to obtain Mr. Horton’s deposition not “for 
months”, but for OVER A YEAR (15 months compared to Plaintiffs’ 3 months);   

2. The Defendants filed and served their first Notice of Deposition to Mr. Horton not 
“last fall” but TWO falls ago, on October 19, 2017; 

3. The Defendants issued 2 more Notices of Deposition for Mr. Horton before Plaintiffs 
issued anything concerning his deposition; 

4. This is the Plaintiffs’ “key” witness, the individual who secretly met with Plaintiffs’ 
counsel in excess of 10 times, providing him the confidential KNR documents and 
verbal information that are being misused to fuel this lawsuit; and  

5. Defendants have a right to Horton’s actual deposition testimony in this case, as 
opposed to Plaintiffs’ counsel’s various renditions of Horton’s “expected” testimony. 

1No other issues remain regarding the depositions of Attorneys Horton and Petti.  Defendants, in the 
interests of narrowing the issues and moving forward, have conceded on all of Plaintiffs’ counsel’s other 
requests regarding scheduling, timing, and order of questioning, regardless of the unreasonable nature of 
the requests.   
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The Plaintiffs’ request is tantamount to the KNR Defendants requesting to ask questions 

first of KNR’s own 30(b) representative at a discovery deposition noticed by the Plaintiffs.  The 

Court would never give in to such a request, and Defendants respectfully maintain the Court 

should not allow Plaintiffs’ equally unreasonable request either. 

The Defendants have provided great deference to Plaintiffs’ counsel in the timing and 

order of witnesses.  Defendants’ counsel even offered an olive branch on the questioning of Mr. 

Horton, agreeing to turn over questioning to Plaintiffs’ counsel after the first hour of deposition, 

regardless of whether Defendants’ counsel was finished or not.  Yet, Plaintiffs’ Counsel still 

refuses to honor the Defendants’ Notice of Deposition.   This is yet another attempt by Plaintiffs’ 

counsel to circumvent the Ohio Rules of Civil Procedure, which he does not believe apply to 

Plaintiffs.2  Defendants respectfully maintain that it is time for the Court to say: Enough is 

enough, Mr. Pattakos, the rules apply to both sides.  

Plaintiffs’ counsel has repeatedly referred to Attorney Horton as the Plaintiffs’ “key” or 

“star” witness.   Plaintiffs’ counsel has stated on multiple occasions that Plaintiffs’ allegations 

are based primarily on confidential KNR documents and verbal information provided by 

Attorney Horton, the witness upon whom the Plaintiffs base their case.   The Defendants have a 

right to avail themselves to Civil Rule 30 to depose this witness, and, in fact have been 

attempting to do exactly that for more than 15 months. 

2For example, Plaintiffs previously:  a)  refused to comply with a Notice of Deposition Duces Tecum on 
the grounds the Notice “was not a thing” under Ohio law; b) refused to answer “contention 
interrogatories” on the grounds they are improper at this stage of litigation.  Of course, the Ohio Civil 
Rules expressly allow both discovery vehicles (and even prohibit objecting based on a discovery request 
referencing a “contention” of the parties); c) misuses his subpoena power to schedule private interviews. 
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A chronology of the Defendants’ formal attempts at deposing Mr. Horton is as follows 

(See Exhibits “A” through “E”): 

1. October 19, 2017: KNR filed Notice of Deposition of Robert Horton 

2. October 5, 2018:  KNR filed Notice of Deposition of Robert Horton 

2. October 11, 2018:  KNR filed Amended Notice of Deposition of Horton 

3. January 4, 2019:  KNR filed a Notice of Deposition of Robert Horton 

4. January 8, 2019:  KNR filed Amended Notice of Deposition of Horton 

While Plaintiffs’ counsel has continuously stonewalled and delayed Mr. Horton’s 

deposition, the parties have now agreed on February 25, 2019, for the deposition date.  However, 

Plaintiffs’ counsel STILL REFUSES to let the deposition go forward unless he is permitted to 

question the witness first, which is why court intervention has become necessary. 

Even more perplexing than the deposition request is Plaintiffs’ misrepresentation to this 

Court that Defendants’ Notice of Deposition is an attempt to “silence” the witness.  This 

argument is preposterous.  A Notice of Deposition is the opposite of attempting to “silence” a 

witness; it’s a proactive attempt to un-silence a witness.  The Defendants’ Notice of Deposition 

is an attempt to obtain Attorney Horton’s ACTUAL TESTIMONY, as opposed to the “expected 

testimony” of Horton used by Plaintiffs’ counsel in pleadings and oral argument.  

Plaintiffs’ accusation that Defendants’ Notice of Deposition is an attempt to “silence” 

Attorney Horton is similar to the many defamatory and false witness tampering accusations he 

has leveled against Defendants’ counsel for well over a year.   Attorney Pattakos has made these 

false allegations to sitting judges on this case, to other Defendants’ counsel, to court reporters, to 

the media, and to anyone and everyone who will listen.   Even more troubling, Attorney Pattakos 
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continues to make these baseless accusations despite being advised multiple times by Attorney 

Horton’s personal attorney that absolutely zero witness tampering occurred.    

The Defendants have a right to defend themselves against the very serious and false 

allegations levied against them by the Plaintiffs.  Obtaining the deposition of the Plaintiffs’ 

primary fact witness is crucial to that defense, and the Defendants have a right to question Mr. 

Horton first pursuant to their validly issued Notice of Deposition.    

Accordingly, the Defendants respectfully request an Order from this Honorable Court 

allowing the deposition to proceed as noticed by the Defendants, with Defendants’ counsel 

asking questions of the witness first.  This Motion is supported by the Ohio Rules of Civil 

Procedure, various affidavits and exhibits, and the attached Memorandum in Support, which are 

incorporated herein by reference. 

Respectfully submitted, 

/s/ Thomas P. Mannion 
Thomas P. Mannion (0062551) 
LEWIS BRISBOIS BISGAARD & SMITH LLP 
1375 E. Ninth Street, Suite 2250 
Cleveland, OH 44114 
216-344-9422; (Fax) 216-344-9421 
Tom.mannion@lewisbrisbois.com

Counsel for Defendants, Kisling, Nestico & 
Redick, LLC, Alberto Nestico, Esq., and Robert 
Redick, Esq. 
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MEMORANDUM IN SUPPORT 

I. FACTS CONCERNING  

Plaintiffs’ counsel claims this class action lawsuit is supported by confidential KNR 

documents and other information provided to him by former KNR attorney, Robert Horton, Esq.3

Accordingly, the Defendants have been attempting to obtain Mr. Horton’s deposition for over a 

year in this case, issuing five Notices of Deposition in an attempt to procure the testimony.   The 

current Motion was necessitated only because of Plaintiffs’ counsel’s refusal to abide by the 

Ohio Rules of Civil Procedure and refusal to honor valid Notices of Deposition. 

A. Plaintiffs’ Counsel Champions Attorney Horton as Plaintiffs’ Key Witness 

The Plaintiffs admit their claims are based primarily on information provided by ex-KNR 

attorney Robert Horton and therefore hold Attorney Horton out as their “key” witness:   

1. November 11, 2016:  Plaintiffs identified Horton as Plainitffs’ “key” 
witness in Plaintiffs’ Reply in Support of Motion for Protective Order;  

3The documents themselves are not incriminating and do not support Plaintiffs’ various claims.  However, 
Plaintiffs’ counsel distorts the meaning of these documents by making nefarious inference upon nefarious 
inference.  Plaintiffs’ counsel further claims his inferences will be supported by the testimony of Attorney 
Horton.   For example, the Class C Plaintiffs claim Attorney Nestico had an ownership interest in Liberty 
Capital because:  

1. An internal KNR email stated Liberty Capital should be used if a client wanted a cash 
advance or “loan.”   The email makes no mention of ownership interest.  But Plaintiffs’ 
counsel infers:  Nestico wanted lawyers to use Liberty Capital, therefore Nestico had an 
ownership interest in Liberty Capital; and 

2. According to Plaintiffs’ counsel, Attorney Horton will testify as to rumors that “attorneys 
inside KNR who were very concerned about the relationship with Liberty Capital.”   (See 
Exhibit “I”, transcript of hearing before Judge Cosgrove).    

The above is absolutely insufficient to establish an ownership interest in Liberty Capital.  It would be 
improper to even allow Plaintiffs’ counsel to argue such inferences and innuendo to a jury.  Moreover, 
Plaintiffs have refused to answer discovery on this issue, and thus have never identified these “attorneys 
inside KNR” or the purported concerns of these attorneys.  This is one of the reasons the Defendants want 
to depose Attorney Horton, to flush out the rumors Attorney Pattakos has attributed to Attorney Horton 
on this topic.  As the court may also be aware, the owner of Liberty Capital has testified via affidavit that 
Attorney Nestico has no ownership interest in the company.  (See Exhibit “L”).
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2. April 5, 2017:  At a hearing before Judge Alison Breaux, Attorney 
Pattakos represented in open court that it would take a “really long time” 
to review every document Mr. Horton took from KNR because it would be 
a “huge amount of documents”.  Plaintiffs’ counsel further represented: 

What I understand, what I can represent on the record is 
that Mr. Horton has his hard drive from when he left KNR.  
He has his e-mails from when he left KNR, and I did not 
think that was a secret.   

And contained in these documents are evidence of what we 
believe is fraud; … (See Exhibit “F”, page 22). 

At that same hearing, Plaintiffs’ counsel represented to the Court: 

The Second Amended Complaint is based on information 
gathered from witnesses and whistle blowers that came 
forward in response to the first complaint.  And we are 
going to quote from these documents [taken from KNR by 
Horton] in that proposed Second Amended Complaint.  We 
will attach the documents to the proposed Second Amended 
Complaint so that it is inescapable   

[W]hat we have learned from Rob Horton at the beginning 
was just the tip of the iceberg of the number of fraudulent, 
corrupt kickback schemes in which this firm is involved.  
(Id. at p. 69). 

3. October 19, 2017:  Attorney Pattakos stated he had “many conversations 
with Horton that support the claims in our lawsuit.” 

4. January 5, 2018:  In a hearing before Judge Cosgrove, Plaintiffs’ counsel 
admitted Plaintiffs’ information relating to the Liberty Capital claims 
came from his interview of Mr. Horton (See Exhibit “G” at page 65): 

5. February 23, 2018:  In the Plaintiffs’ Motion for Protective Order and 
Opposition to Motion to Compel, Attorney Pattakos referenced Attorney 
Horton as “Plaintiffs’ key witness Rob Horton”.  Attorney Pattakos went 
on to represent in that pleading: 
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Plaintiffs have repeatedly represented to Defendants that the 
only responsive documents in their possession are a few 
hundred pages that were provided to Plaintiffs, as evidence 
of Defendants’ fraudulent self-dealing, by former KNR 
attorneys Robert Horton and Gary Petti.  

6. February 28, 2018:  In the Plaintiffs’ Motion to Compel Discovery, 
Attorney Pattakos further states that the allegations in the Complaint are 
“based” (emphasis added) on the  “documents and other information” 
provided by former KNR Attorneys Horton and Petti (with Horton giving 
most of the information, per other representations).  

7. April 11, 2018:  In Plaintiffs’ Reply in Support of Plaintiffs’ Motion to 
Compel, Plaintiffs referred to KNR’s Complaint against Attorney Horton 
as a “strike suit” and again identified him as “key witness Rob Horton”. 

The Defendants have every right to depose the “key” witness whom Plaintiffs’ counsel 

concedes provided Plaintiffs most of their “evidence.” 

B. Defendants’ Multiple Attempts to Depose Attorney Horton 

1. October 19, 2017:  Defendants’ First Notice of Deposition of Horton 

The deposition of Mr. Horton was first noticed on October 19, 2017 (See Notice of 

Deposition, attached hereto as Exhibit “A”).    Counsel for KNR served Plaintiffs’ counsel via 

the Court’s electronic delivery system AND send a separate email that same day, attaching the 

Notice and advising as follows (Exhibit “H”): 

Attorney Pattakos essentially forced the deposition to be delayed, however, by telling 

Attorney Horton’s counsel that he would only agree to the deposition if Horton agreed to be 

deposed later in the litigation as well: 
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This is in response to Mr. Mannion's letter of yesterday regarding the notice and 
scheduling of Mr. Horton’s deposition. If Mr. Mannion is in a hurry to take Mr. 
Horton’s deposition before we have a fair chance to complete documentary 
discovery, we have no objection to that, provided that we'll be permitted to reopen 
the deposition once documentary discovery is substantially complete.  

In response, counsel for KNR advised Plaintiffs’ counsel and Attorney Horton’s counsel 

that, while Defendants wanted the deposition to proceed, the Defendants will “continue to abide 

by our offer to have the deposition take place at a ‘mutually convenient’ date and time.” (See 

Exhibit “H”).  Rather than provide proposed dates, however Attorney Pattakos refused to take 

“any position as to exactly when” Mr. Horton’s deposition could proceed.   

While counsel for Defendants did not agree with the reasoning of Plaintiffs’ counsel, 

counsel for Defendants agreed to schedule the deposition when it could be completed in one 

sitting (See Exhibit “I”) and eventually also agreed to complete the deposition after Mr. 

Nestico’s deposition: 

Out of consideration for Attorneys Skidmore and Horton, we have agreed 
to schedule the deposition at a time where hopefully it can be completed in 
one sitting. And, when the deposition was initially noticed, like you did 
with your Notice of Deposition, we indicated that the deposition would 
only go forward at a "mutually convenient" date and time. Of course, that 
was out of consideration for all involved, including yourself, and to 
comply with both the rules and the intent of the Civil Rules.   

We look forward to hearing your explanations and would suggest a 
date/time to discuss this next week to hopefully work out our differences 
amicably. 

Again, in deference to Plaintiffs’ requests, Defendants waited for nearly a year before re-

noticing the deposition of Mr. Horton, because it took Attorney Pattakos that long to agree to go 

forward with the deposition.   
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2. Fall, 2018:  Defendants’ Additional Notices of Deposition of Horton 

a. October 5, 2018:  Defendants’ Notice of Deposition of Horton 

The Defendants filed and served another Notice of Deposition of Attorney Robert Horton 

on October 5, 2018 (See Exhibit “B”).  The deposition was set for November 2, 2018.   After the 

Notice was issued, Plaintiffs’ counsel claimed he was no longer available on this date (despite 

previously stating he was available). 

b. October 11, 2018:  Defendants’ Notice of Deposition of Horton 

On October 11, 2018, Attorneys Mannion, Pattakos, and Skidmore (Horton’s counsel)   

participated in a phone call and agreed upon November 26, 2018, as a mutually convenient date 

for Mr. Horton’s deposition.  Rather than simply rely on the prior Notice of Deposition, 

however, Defendants filed and served another Notice of Deposition that same day, noticing Mr. 

Horton for the date agreed upon.  (See Exhibit “C”). 

c. Attorney Horton’s Deposition Continued at Mutual Request 

After a two-day deposition of KNR employee Brandy Gobrogge, which began October 

16, 2018, Attorney Mannion and Attorney Pattakos met in person to discuss various discovery 

issues and the upcoming mediation in federal court.  At that meeting, both counsel MUTUALLY 

AGREED to move depositions and discovery for one month (pending the Court’s approval, of 

course).  On November 1, 2018, shortly after this agreement on a 30-day continuance was 

formalized in a Joint Motion, Attorney Mannion sent correspondence to Attorney Horton’s 

counsel (with a copy to Attorney Pattakos), advising him of the continuation and requesting 

additional dates for Attorney Horton’s deposition (See Exhibit “J”): 

Peter and I agreed to 30-day extension and moving depositions.  We had tentative, 
then it was off, now we've filed stipulated motion with Court.  Peter wants to take 
Mr. Nestico before Mr. Horton.  We might be looking at December/January for 
Mr. Horton now.  I have trial 12/3 and 12/10, so it will have to be after that.    
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The following day, Attorney Pattakos acknowledged the continuance (See Exhibit “J”): 

Confirming Tom's message below but would add that we probably will not be 
ready to proceed with Mr. Horton until the second half of January at the earliest. 
Can you please send us some dates in that timeframe that would work?  

3. January, 2019:  Defendants’ Additional Notices of Deposition  

On January 4, 2019, the Defendants filed and served another Notice of Deposition of 

Robert Horton, for January 23, 2019.  (See Exhibit “D”).  This date was picked because it was 

the date Attorney Pattakos had indicated he was available, and Attorney Pattakos had mailed a 

subpoena to Horton’s counsel listing this as the date of the deposition.  After Defendants’ issued 

the Notice, Attorney Pattakos stated he would no longer agree to this date.4

In an attempt to find a mutually convenient date, Attorney Mannion recommended 

February 8, 2019, as Attorneys Pattakos, Skidmore, and Horton had previously indicated they 

were available that day.  Accordingly, Attorney Mannion inquired as to whether that date was 

still available.  In response, Attorney Pattakos wrote to Attorney Skidmore advising he would 

file a Motion for Protective Order if the deposition went forward as indicated by Attorney 

Mannion.  However, such a threat was absolutely uncalled for, as Attorney Mannion was 

attempting to obtain mutually convenient dates all along.    

On January 8, 2019, Attorney Skidmore advised that Attorney Horton was available for 

deposition on February 25, 2019.  That same day, Defendants filed and served an Amended 

Notice of Deposition of Mr. Horton, for February 25, 2019, which was a date agreed upon by the 

witness and all counsel. (See Exhibit “E”).  While a subpoena is not necessary for this 

4Attorney Pattakos’ agreement did not matter, though, because counsel for Horton was not 
available anyway.  
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deposition, Defendants also issued a subpoena, served on Mr. Horton through his counsel, for the 

deposition to proceed on February 25, 2019.5

4. Plaintiffs have NEVER Filed a Notice of Deposition of Mr. Horton 

First, it should be noted the Plaintiffs have NEVER filed or served a Notice of Deposition 

of Mr. Horton.  The only filing by Plaintiff relating to procuring Mr. Horton’s attendance at 

deposition was a subpoena issued in November, 2018, for a deposition on January 23, 2019.  

Attorney Pattakos never checked availability of the witness or any counsel for that subpoena, did 

not file or serve a Notice of Deposition, and the deposition never went forward that day.  Even 

more importantly, Attorney Pattakos’ subpoena was issued: 

a. More than a year after the Defendants’ requested Horton’s 
deposition; 

b. More than a year after Defendants’ first Notice of Deposition of 
Horton; 

c. More than a month after Defendants’ second Notice of Deposition 
of Horton; 

d. Nearly a month after Defendants’ third Notice of Deposition of 
Horton. 

B. Pattakos Withdrew Plaintiffs’ Request to Question Horton First 

Last fall, Attorney Pattakos began claiming the Plaintiffs had a right to question Attorney 

Horton first, despite Defendants’ multiple Notices of Deposition.    He later withdrew that 

request on October 22, 2018 (See Exhibit “M”):   

5The subpoena was issued AND SERVED prior to the Plaintiffs’ Motion for Protective Order.  Yet, 
Plaintiffs’ counsel represented to this Court that a subpoena had never been issued.  This representation is 
blatantly inaccurate, but Defendants will give Plaintiffs’ counsel a benefit of the doubt that he merely 
forgot about the subpoena being issued.
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If we are clear on the below,6 I can withdraw my objection to Tom 
questioning Horton first at his deposition. Please advise.  

Attorney Mannion made sure Attorney Pattakos was “clear” on the “below”, after which 

Attorney Pattakos confirmed that Attorney Mannion’s assurance was sufficient: 

I just wanted to be clear that relevant questions are fair game (the Rule 26 
"reasonably calculated" standard). Thank you for confirming. 

Based on the above, Defendants assumed the objection to Defendants asking questions of 

Attorney first was resolved.  Despite withdrawing the objection, Plaintiffs’ counsel again refuses 

to go forward with Attorney Horton’s deposition unless he can ask questions first.7

II. FACTS REGARDING WITNESS TAMPERING ACCUSATIONS 

A. Overview of Horton Affidavit and Accusations of Witness Tampering 

On March, 2017, KNR instituted separate litigation to enforce Attorney Horton’s 

Confidentiality Agreement with KNR and to prevent him from further disseminating confidential 

and privileged documents.  The case was eventually resolved, and KNR and Attorney Horton 

6The “below” is referenced earlier in the email chain, wherein Attorney Pattakos stated: 

Before we proceed with Mr. Horton's deposition, I want everyone to be clear that he is free to 
testify without any fear of reprisal by way of a lawsuit for violating his confidentiality 
agreement with KNR.  

Attorney Mannion replied immediately, stating:  

First, I am not sure how this issue impacts the order of questioning. Second, my client 
has zero intention of instilling a “fear of reprisal” in Mr. Horton. Third, regarding whether his 
testimony would violate any agreement, I think we generally agree with you on the issue.  
However, I certainly cannot anticipate every question you will ask. I have no intention of 
using the deposition to violate any agreement or to bait Mr. Horton into violating any 
agreement.  That’s the last thing we want.   Any relevant questions regarding the issues at 
hand should be fair game, but I cannot anticipate every question you might ask. If there’s a 
specific topic area you are concerned may violate any agreement, please let me know. Also, it 
is my understanding that Mr. Skidmore will represent Mr. Horton at the deposition, and I’m 
sure that he will not allow any testimony that he believes is improper. I’m not trying to be 
difficult with you on this, I just am a little bit unclear what you’re asking.  I am copying Mr. 
Skidmore since this involves his client.  

7In order to avoid court intervention, Defendants offered to turn over questioning of Mr. Horton after one 
hour, even if not done with his questioning.  Plaintiffs’ counsel contemplated and then refused. 
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entered into a confidential settlement agreement.  During the pendency of that case, Attorney 

Horton executed an affidavit, under oath, regarding his employment at KNR and regarding the 

various allegations in the Complaint.8  A copy of the Affidavit was filed in the present case on 

October 16, 2017, and is attached hereto as Exhibit “K”. 

At the time he gave sworn testimony on August 8, 2017, Robert Horton was: 

a. An attorney licensed by the State of Ohio and subject to Ohio’s 
disciplinary rules; 

b. Represented by counsel; and 

c. Was under a solemn oath to tell the truth, under penalty of perjury. 

Importantly, not only was Attorney Horton represented at all times, Attorney Horton also 

testified via affidavit that he was truthful and voluntarily provided the affidavit testimony after 

reviewing it with his attorney.  Attorney Horton testified at Paragraph 45 of the Affidavit: 

Unfortunately for Plaintiffs, Attorney Horton’s sworn testimony, under oath, directly 

contradicts Attorney Pattakos’ representations as to the expected testimony from this “star 

witness” and “whistleblower”.  Since learning of the affidavit, Attorney Pattakos has 

systematically and repeatedly leveled untrue accusations against Attorney Mannion.  

Specifically, Attorney Pattakos has accused Attorney Mannion of intimidating, threatening, and 

coercing the witness into providing false testimony.  This is a serious accusation without any 

8Unlike Attorney Pattakos, KNR’s counsel never once discussed this matter with Attorney Horton outside 

the presence of his counsel, Thomas Skidmore, Esq.  Moreover, Attorney Horton was fully represented by 

Attorney Skidmore at all times during the KNR vs. Horton litigation, which was eventually resolved 

pursuant to a Confidential Settlement Agreement.  As part of that litigation, Attorney Horton provided 

sworn testimony via an affidavit, which is attached hereto.
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merit and is not taken lightly.  Not only has Attorney Pattakos made these untrue accusations to 

sitting judges in this case, but he has made the witness tampering accusations to the public as 

well, via Cleveland.Com (the Plain Dealer) and presumably social media.   Even more troubling 

is that Attorney Pattakos continues to make these accusations even though he knows they aren’t 

true (Horton’s counsel has told him this multiple times). 

Let’s make no mistake about these accusations.  Attorney Pattakos is claiming Attorney 

Horton lied under oath and that undersigned counsel coerced, bullied, and intimidated Attorney 

Horton into providing the false testimony.  Attorney Pattakos’ accusations should be seen for 

what they are:  an attempt to improperly influence the Court and future fact finders (jurors).  

These types of accusations should not be tolerated and needs to stop immediately. 

B. Attorney Pattakos Accused Attorney Mannion of Witness Tampering before 
Pattakos even Read the Affidavit 

On October 16, 2017, Attorney Mannion handed a copy of Attorney Robert Horton’s 

affidavit to Plaintiffs’ counsel during an in-person Status Conference with Judge Breaux.  

Immediately thereafter, without even reading one word of the affidavit, Attorney Pattakos began 

making untrue accusations.   Attorney Pattakos told Judge Breaux, other court staff in the room, 

and all counsel that the affidavit was untrue and was obtained by intimidation and coercion of 

the witness.  Attorney Pattakos made this accusation without reading the affidavit and without 

regard to the truth or falsity of the accusations.  At the hearing of Judge Breaux even stated to 

Mr. Pattakos (see Exhibit “T”). 
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C. Attorney Pattakos Made the Untrue Ethical Accusations Public via an 
Interview with Cleveland.Com  

The day following the improper accusations made to Judge Breaux re: KNR’s counsel, 

Attorney Pattakos took his improper conduct a step further and made the accusations public, 

including the very community from which a jury will be selected in this case.  On October 17, 

2017, Attorney Pattakos was interviewed by his friend, Cleveland.Com reporter Eric Heisig, 

regarding Attorney Horton’s affidavit.  As reported by Cleveland.Com (the Plain Dealer) in an 

article by Mr. Heisig (See Exhibit “S”): 

Pattakos said in an interview Tuesday that the lawsuit against Horton and 
the affidavit “is the product of KNR’s effort to intimidate and bully him.”  
He said the affidavit was “carefully worded” and that Horton will testify in 
court that the allegations described in the lawsuit are true. 

According to its web site, Cleveland.Com has 9.9 million unique readers each month.  

And the Plain Dealer has the largest newspaper circulation in Ohio. 

D. Attorney Pattakos Refuses to Retract the Untrue Ethical Violations 

On October 18, 2017, the day after the Cleveland.com article and two days after the 

Status Conference with Judge Breaux, Attorney Mannion requested Attorney Pattakos retract his 

untrue ethical accusations (See Exhibit “M”): 

Please immediately retract the misrepresentations you made to Judge 
Breaux and Cleveland.com re: the Affidavit of Rob Horton. Not only are 
your allegations outright false, they were made recklessly.  You made the 
false allegations to the Court even before you read the Affidavit.  And you 
made the false allegations to Cleveland.com without any proof of the truth 
or falsity of the allegations.  Please immediately retract the 
misrepresentations to the Court and to Cleveland.com. 

Rather than retract the untrue public accusations, Attorney Pattakos dug his heels in and 

continued to make the same accusations.  Incredibly, Attorney Pattakos admitted he did not even 

read the affidavit before throwing out his very serious accusations.  Nor did he even attempt to 
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confirm his personal opinion by discussing the affidavit with Attorney Horton’s counsel.  Rather, 

he simply hid behind claimed “protected speech.”   

Attorney Pattakos’ response included the following statements (See Exhibit “M): 

…  I did not need to see Horton's affidavit to know that it was a product of 
your abusive tactics, intended to mislead the Court and deflect from your 
client's unlawful conduct. … 

And while I can only imagine what purpose you have in sending your 
email demanding that I retract protected speech, I can assure you that if it's 
to support a legal filing demanding the same, I will pursue and will surely 
be entitled to sanctions for that as well.  

Despite Attorney Pattakos’ attempt to hide behind his First Amendment Rights of 

freedom of speech, not all speech is “protected” in the professional context.  Attorneys do not 

have carte blanche authority to make public accusations of ethical misconduct in order to gain an 

advantage with a Court or jury, especially without any proof that any ethical misconduct 

occurred.  In this case, the accusations are even worse, because the witness and counsel for the 

witness both refute Attorney Pattakos’ accusations of witness tampering.   Even as an individual, 

despite any First Amendment rights, Attorney Pattakos false accusations to the media constitute 

slander and defamation.  More importantly, as an attorney representing the Plaintiffs in this case, 

untrue accusations of ethical misconduct to the public are certainly not permitted under Ohio law 

controlling the conduct of attorneys in civil litigation. 

E. Attorney Horton’s Personal Counsel Refutes Pattakos’ Accusations 

Later that same day, October 18, 2017, Attorney Mannion learned that counsel for 

Attorney Horton advised Cleveland.com the affidavit was truthful and was not a result of either 

intimidation or coercion.  Cleveland.Com contacted Attorney Skidmore for comment the day 

after the article was published.  Attorney Skidmore told the reporter that “the affidavit was 

truthful” and was “not coerced or obtained through intimidation.”  (Cleveland.Com did not 
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report Attorney Skidmore’s comments).  Accordingly, Attorney Mannion advised Attorney 

Pattakos (See Exhibit “M): 

He [Horton] stands by the entire affidavit. Because it is the truth. You had 
no basis to say I intimidated a witness.  He was represented. He signed 
under oath.  It was the truth. You should redact [sic, should be retract]. 

Attorney Pattakos, of course, simply responded with more accusations, claiming Attorney 

Mannion put “words into [Horton’s] mouth” (See Exhibit “M”): 

If you're going to purport to speak for Horton and what he "stands by," 
you should notice an appearance on his behalf. You've already put enough 
words into his mouth with the affidavit so why stop now, right?  

Of course, Attorney Pattakos forgets he purported to “speak for Horton” and what Horton 

“stands by” when he told Cleveland.com:  “Horton will testify in court that the allegations 

described in the lawsuit are true.”   Attorney Mannion, on the other hand, was only advising  

Attorney Pattakos what Attorney Horton’s personal counsel had told him (See Exhibit “M”): 

I am not talking for Horton. I am relaying what his counsel told the 
newspaper reporter. That’s all. 

The following day, October 19, 2017, Attorney Thomas Skidmore, counsel for 

Attorney Horton, advised Attorney Pattakos his accusations were untrue (See Exhibit “N”): 

Based on Attorney Skidmore’s confirmation that the affidavit was not obtained 

improperly and that “to say otherwise is untrue,” Attorney Mannion again requested Attorney 

Pattakos to retract his untrue ethical accusations (See Exhibit “O”): 
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As you know, Mr. Skidmore was involved first-hand in the Affidavit 
process.  You were not.  Mr. Skidmore confirmed the following to you in 
writing: 

Three attorneys were involved in the Affidavit, and three attorneys 
confirm that your statements re: the Affidavit are and were untrue: 

1.         Affiant Robert Horton, Esq. 

Attorney Horton raised his right hand, swore under oath to tell the 
truth, and then signed his Affidavit under penalty of perjury.  He 
has sworn under oath to the statements in his Affidavit.  Moreover, 
through counsel, he has stated that he stands by the testimony in 
the Affidavit.   

2.         Affiant’s Counsel, Thomas Skidmore, Esq.   

Mr. Skidmore is an experienced, well-respected attorney who 
represents Mr. Horton now and who represented Mr. Horton 
throughout the Affidavit process.  Mr. Skidmore confirmed to you, 
in writing that your statements to Cleveland.com were inaccurate.  
He expressly advised you:  "Mr. Horton was not intimidated or 
bullied by Attorney Mannion in the litigation that was filed against 
him.  To say otherwise is untrue." 

3.         KNR’s counsel, Thomas P. Mannion, Esq. 

While you may be free to disagree with me, Attorneys Horton and 
Skidmore have spoken clearly and unequivocally on this issue.  
Your unsubstantiated "opinion" does not give you the right to 
lodge serious ethical allegations against me to Judge Breaux and to 
Cleveland.com (and thus, the public).  I have been patiently 
waiting for a retraction, at which time I will let this go as a "heat of 
the moment" outburst.  However, I again request that you 
immediately retract your statements to both Judge Breaux and 
Cleveland.com, especially in light of confirmation from Rob 
Horton's counsel. 

Rather than retract, Attorney Pattakos continued with his rather bizarre accusations and 

even suggested Attorney Horton violated his settlement agreement with KNR: (See Exhibit “O”): 
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I have had many conversations with Horton that support the claims in our lawsuit 
as well as the notion that you intimidated him into executing the affidavit.
(Emphasis added). 

Attorney Pattakos claimed he was told by Attorney Horton that KNR’s counsel 

intimidated him into executing the affidavit.  This claim, if true, could have serious repercussions 

to Attorney Horton, who would be admitting to lying under oath and would be potentially 

violating a settlement agreement.  Again, though, the accusations made by Attorney Pattakos are 

not based on any actual evidence or any legitimate inference.  To the contrary, the witness’s own 

attorney told Attorney Pattakos that the witness was not intimidated.  

Almost a year to the day later, on October 22, 2018, Attorney Pattakos again started with 

accusations of witness intimidation and tampering.  Specifically, he alleged Attorney Mannion’s 

Notice of Deposition, which would permit Attorney Mannion to question Attorney Horton first at 

deposition, somehow was another intimidation tactic.  In Attorney Pattakos’ mind, if KNR’s 

counsel questions Attorney Horton first at deposition, it would only be an attempt to influence 

his testimony and essentially “silence” Attorney Horton.  After hearing this false accusation, 

Attorney Skidmore confirmed again to Attorney Pattakos (See Exhibit “P”): 

…  The deposition of Mr. Horton will be conducted in accordance with the 
Ohio Rules of Civil Procedure.  He has not been intimidated by anyone 
and any inference of such is without merit.  (Emphasis added). 

Despite yet another confirmation by Horton’s counsel that the affidavit was voluntary, 

Attorney Pattakos continues to make these baseless accusations.   

F. Plaintiffs’ Counsel’s Intimidation Tactics 

The true intimidation tactics and abuse of the Civil Rules rests with Attorney Pattakos, 

whose unclean hands should prevent him from leveling accusations against others.  
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1. Refusing to Allow a Pre-Planned Break for Pumping Breast Milk 

Prior to the deposition of Brandy Gobrogge, Plaintiffs’ counsel was advised she needed 

availability of a room to pump breast milk for her baby at home and that appropriate breaks 

would be needed during the deposition for Ms. Gobrogge to complete pumping.  At 

approximately 10 a.m. on the second day of Ms. Gobrogge’s deposition, counsel reminded 

Attorney Pattakos of the need for milk pumping breaks and indicated a break would be needed in 

about an hour (See Gobrogge deposition at page 183, lines 4 -14): 

Mr. Mannion:  Before you ask the next question, just timing wise, I 
wanted to let you know as far as the personal issue, probably close 
to 11:00, if we can get that far before we take a break, is when 
she’ll need a break for the personal issue – 

Mr. Pattakos:  Okay. 

Mr. Mannion:  --Just wanted to let you know timing wise. 

Mr. Pattakos:  That’s fine.  Thanks. 

At 11 a.m., BEFORE Mr. Pattakos had a question pending, Mr. Mannion 

reminded him:   

“By the way, before you ask another question, we have to take the break.  
No [to Peter shaking his head no to a break].  We have to.  It’s 11:00.  I 
told you this 50 minutes ago.   

Mr. Pattakos refused. He argued a question was pending when it was not.  Nevertheless, Mr. 

Mannion volunteered he would not talk to the witness on the break.  Mr. Pattakos still attempted 

to keep asking questions.  Despite the prior notice of the need for a personal break and the lack 

of pending question, Defendants’ counsel conceded and allowed Attorney Pattakos to ask 

another question. He did.  Ms. Gobrogge answered.  Rather than stop, Pattakos asked another 

question.  Ms. Gobrogge answered.  Rather than stop, Attorney Pattakos asked another question.  

Ms. Gobrogge answered.  Then, Attorney Pattakos attempted to ask yet another question, and 
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undersigned counsel stopped him before the question was out so that Ms. Gobrogge could take 

her personal break.   

Attorney Pattakos’ behavior is replete with raised accusations, facial expressions of 

displeasure, and various other histrionics.  Histrionics are one thing.  But what he did to Ms. 

Gobrogge went far beyond such behavior.  She is a fact witness who was in the second day of 

deposition and all counsel, including Attorney Pattakos, had agreed she could take a break to 

pump breast milk.  Defendants even gave Attorney Pattakos ANOTHER hour notice before the 

break in question.  And yet he continued to try to force Ms. Gobrogge to answer questions when 

she was told she would have a break for breast milk pumping – and he did it in a disruptive 

manner – while making belittling statements about Ms. Gobrogge to her and all in the conference 

room: 

a. She doesn’t need to stop right now. [As if Attorney 
Pattakos is the authority on when a woman needs a break to 
pump breast milk]; 

b. Accused the witness of potentially using the break to “look 
at her phone” or “She could do anything” to get answers to 
his questions elsewhere.  [A question was not pending 
anyway]. 

c. Accusing her of needing a break so her attorney could “sort 
out [her] testimony.”  

d. Accused the witness of inconsistent testimony and, in 
essence, purposely pretending not to understand questions; 

e. Accused the witness’s attorney of “really not liking” her 
testimony. 

All of these comments were made with everyone in the conference room and in just the 

few minutes between the time Ms. Gobrogge tried to leave at the pre-planned time to pump 
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breast milk until the time she was allowed to leave.  These comments and refusing to allow a 

pre-planned break of a personal nature were all done as intimidation tactics. 

2. Accusing the Witness of Perjury and the Court’s Perjury “Concern” 

Even worse than not allowing the breast milk pumping break, Attorney Pattakos then 

accused Ms. Gobrogge of “lying her ass off” to protect her employer.  (See Gobrogge deposition, 

p. 430-432).  He said this loud enough for all in the room and Ms. Gobrogge to hear.   When 

asked what was said as the break ensued, Attorney Reagan confirmed on the record (and 

Attorney Pattakos never denied saying) the following: 

Mr. Pattakos telling someone in the room that the witness is lying 
her ass off where the witness could hear it and I could hear it. 

Mr. Pattakos then, in front of the witness, essentially mocked Ms. Gobrogge’s need to 

pump breast milk despite the prior agreement for the break, saying Attorney Mannion dragged 

her out of the room and that she didn’t need a break.  We reminded him she did need a break and 

told him 50 minutes beforehand the exact time of the break.   

Attorney Pattakos made it worse by alleging in front of the witness, on the record, that 

Ms. Gobrogge was committing perjury, that perjury would be talked about with Your Honor, 

Judge Brogan, and that Judge Brogan already had a “concern” with perjury as it related to Mr. 

Nestico.  These statements were pure harassment and intimidation.  In fact, these were as close 

as it gets to, and may have even crossed over the border of, threating criminal charges against a 

witness in a civil case: (See page 432-433 of Brandy Gobrogge deposition). 

Mr. Mannion:  Yeah, do not call my witnesses liars to anybody. 

Mr. Pattakos:  Tom, my private conversations with my associate are 
between me and my associate.  I’m sorry – 

Mr. Mannion:  It’s not a private conversation, when my witness can hear 
you. 
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Mr. Pattakos:  Well, if your witness would just tell the truth instead of 
trying to cover up for her employer, we wouldn’t have these issues. 

Mr. Mannion [to the witness]:  You can ignore that comment.  Yeah, he’s 
accusing you of perjury to cover up.  Why?  Because he’s – 

Mr. Pattakos:  We’ll talk about it. 

Mr. Mannion:  --trying to threaten you.  He’s trying to threaten you. 

Mr. Pattakos:  We’ll talk about – we’ll talk about that later.  We’ll talk 
about perjury later.  I know Judge Brogan said on the phone call – he 
mentioned the word, “Perjury,” four times when it came to Mr. Nestico’s 
testimony, so it’s certainly a concern of the Court.   

3. Reading Perjury Statute to Dr. Gunning 

Dr. Gunning was represented by counsel and sworn under oath at the beginning of the 

deposition.  However, after obtaining some testimony he didn’t like, Attorney Pattakos then 

began essentially accusing Dr. Gunning of perjury and letting him know perjury was a felony.  

Then, after being told by Dr. Gunning’s counsel that Dr. Gunning understood he was under oath, 

he continued by attempting to read the statute.   See, for example, pages 37-39 of Dr. Gunning’s 

deposition transcript: 

Q. Are you aware, Dr. Gunning, that perjury is a felony? 

 Mr. Barmen:  Objection. 

 Mr. Mannion: Objection. 

A. Yes. 

 Mr. Mannion:  Peter, stop trying to intimidate the witness. 

 Mr. Pattakos:  I’m concerned… 

 Mr. Mannion:  You’ve raised your voice.  You’re threatening criminal 
action now. 
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 Mr. Pattakos:  I’m just concerned at this point about the perjury –I’m 
concerned about knowingly false statements being entered into these 
proceedings.   

Q. I’m going to read the perjury statute:  “No person in…” 

 Mr. Barmen:  .. Peter, can you ask your questions?  He’ll give you 
answers and we’ll move on, but stop the grandstanding, stop the 
garbage, stop the intimidation.  He understands he’s under oath.  Ask 
you questions. 

Q. Dr. Gunning, do you understand that Ohio Revised Code Section 
2921.11…--provides that –-“No person, in any official” –
proceeding… shall knowing make a false statement under oath or 
affirmation or knowingly sear or affirm the truth…” 

 {interspersed with objections]  

4. Misuse of Subpoena Power; Attempt to Induce Dr. Fonner to Breach 
a Confidentiality and Non-Disparagement Agreement 

Dr. Fonner was subpoenaed by Attorney Pattakos to appear on October 23, 2018, for 

deposition, presumably to inquire into the lawsuit between KNR and Dr. Fonner.  The deposition 

was set to take place at Attorney Pattakos’ office, but was canceled.  Rather than advise the 

witness the subpoena no longer compelled his attendance, Attorney Pattakos utilized the 

subpoena to essentially set up a private interview of Dr. Fonner without any other counsel 

present.  (See Exhibit “U”, Affidavit of James Fonner, D.C.).  While Dr. Fonner has every right 

to voluntarily be interviewed by any counsel, counsel cannot use a subpoena to force such a 

private interview. 

Attorney Pattakos did not advise defense counsel that he was unilaterally canceling the 

deposition until 8:29 a.m. the morning before the 9:00 a.m. deposition.  Of course, this unilateral 

cancelation had the same impact as the priors, causing multiple attorneys to hold an entire day 

open at the whim of Peter Pattakos for no legitimate reason.  Attorney Pattakos obviously knew 
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before that morning that he was not proceeding with the deposition.  Canceling a deposition may 

be an inconvenience, but Attorney Pattakos’ conduct towards the witness is outright egregious.   

Attorney Pattakos believes he has no obligation to notify a witness when that witness’s 

obligation to comply with a subpoena is lifted.   Because of this, Attorney Pattakos failed to 

follow the common courtesy – or the requirement of the rules – to notify Dr. Fonner the 

deposition canceled.   Not because Mr. Pattakos forgot.  Not because it slipped through the 

cracks.  But because Attorney Pattakos simply thinks the rules don’t apply to him. 

On November 19, 2018, Attorney Mannion asked Attorney Pattakos whether he notified 

the witnesses subpoenaed by him for the next several days were told the depositions were off.  

The corresponding exchange is telling into Attorney Pattakos’ blatant disregard for the Civil 

Rules and his obligations when issuing a subpoena (see correspondence exchange in emails on 

November 19th and 20th, attached as Exhibit “V”): 

Mannion: Did you let the witnesses set for the next two days know 
the depositions are off? 

Pattakos: Is there a particular reason you are concerned about this? It 
should be clear to all who need to know that the next 
deposition Plaintiffs will be taking in this lawsuit is Dr. 
Gunning's. 

Popson: Because you cannot subpoena private interviews. Is there a 
reason you issued a subpoena, then told me not to attend 
and left a witness thinking they have a legal obligation to 
appear? 

Pattakos: That is ridiculous. All of the subpoenas I've issued 

specifically instruct the witness to contact me to confirm a 

specific date and time and I make all reasonable efforts to 

communicate with the witnesses. It is not my 

responsibility when a witness fails to communicate with 

me about a subpoena and shows up for a deposition that 

was never confirmed.  (Emphasis added). 

CV-2016-09-3928 DPEL01/25/2019 12:33:44 PMMICHAEL, KATHRYN Page 25 of 110

Sandra Kurt, Summit County Clerk of Courts



4822-2499-5206.1 26 

Mannion: If a subpoena is no longer valid because the deposition is 

off, then you have an absolute duty to notify the witness. 

Mannion: Read the very subpoena you issued:

It is an obvious undue burden on a person subject to a subpoena for 

deposition to perform the following activities when the deposition 

has been canceled: 

               1) Cancel all activities for an entire day; 

               2) Lose money from not working that day; 

               3) Drive hours to the place you were subpoenaed; and 

               4)  Drive hours back from the place you were 

subpoenaed. 

You were responsible for issuance and service of the subpoena and 

therefore you were required to take reasonable steps to avoid 

imposing this undue burden on the doctor.  While your subpoena 

indicated the deponent "may" contact you by phone or email, no 

reason existed for the deponent to do so.  You provided a specific 

date and time for the deposition and the witness knew from the 

subpoena that sanctions were possible for not showing up at that 

date and time:  

It's one thing to "forget" or have something "slip by."  But you are 

justifying your actions in not notifying witnesses when the 

subpoena is off and still refuse to tell us whether you notified any 

of the witnesses for today and tomorrow that the subpoenas are 

off.  This is highly improper conduct and we ask that you 

immediately cease and desist using your authority as an officer of 

the Court to issue subpoenas solely to direct witnesses to drive to 

your place of business so you can interview them.  Moreover, if 
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that wasn't your purpose, then we ask you immediately cease and 

desist your practice of failing to tell a witness YOU subpoenaed 

that his or her attendance is not required if the deposition is not 

going forward.

Pattakos: I told you that the witnesses are on notice that the depositions are 

off. Please stop with the crazy emails.  

Well, perhaps Attorney Pattakos told the witnesses in November the depositions were off.  

But he certainly did not tell Dr. Fonner the deposition was off, nor did he think he had an 

obligation to do so.  Rather, he used the subpoena to set up a private interview with Dr. Fonner.   

Dr. Fonner drove 120 miles from Pataskala, Ohio to Attorney Pattakos’ office in Fairlawn, Ohio, 

because the subpoena threatened sanctions for failure to appear and he had never been told the 

deposition was off.  Certainly defense counsel (who cannot release a witness from another 

attorneys’ subpoena) could not have timely advised Dr. Fonner, as defense did not find out until 

31 minutes before the deposition. 

Upon arriving at the location and seeing few cars or activity in the law office, Dr. Fonner 

called Attorney Pattakos’ office.  An office assistant spoke with Dr. Fonner and then had 

Attorney Pattakos talk with him, at which time Attorney Pattakos told him to come into the 

office to talk.  Attorney Pattakos then proceed to interview Dr. Fonner, without any other 

lawyers present, without telling him the subpoena was no longer valid, and in an attempt to 

obtain confidential information by deceptive means. 

Attorney Pattakos inquired into Dr. Fonner’s lawsuit with KNR.  Dr. Fonner advised he 

could not talk about it because he was party to a Confidentiality and Non-Disparagement 

Agreement.  Amazingly, Attorney Pattakos told him the confidentiality agreement “did not 

apply” and he could talk about.    Attorney Pattakos was rendering ostensible legal advice in an 
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attempt to induce Dr. Fonner into breaching his confidential settlement agreement with KNR.  

(See Exhibit “U”). 

Attorney Pattakos also “made numerous derogatory comments concerning Rob Nestico.”9

While we cannot prevent Attorney Pattakos from trying to color a third party’s opinion of 

Attorney Nestico, the use of subpoenas for private interviews, refusal to follow the rules, and 

attempts to induce a breach of a confidentiality agreement should not be tolerated. 

5. Threat of Lawsuit to Obtain Information 

Plaintiffs’ counsel has wrongfully accused chiropractor Philip Tassi, D.C. of being 

involved in a “narrative fee” scheme, just as he has wrongfully accused the KNR Defendants, Dr. 

Floros, Dr. Fonner, and others.   In an attempt to scare Dr. Tassi into providing information to 

him, Attorney Pattakos called and left the following voice mail message for Dr. Tassi on 

September 27, 2018: 

Hi Dr. Tassi, my name is Peter Pattakos, I’m an attorney.  You probably 
know this, I have a lawsuit against KNR, Dr. Floros and now, Dr. 
Ghoubrial.   

I understand you are intimately involved with these guys.  I have a client 
who was charged a narrative fee to you, that was paid to you. 

I am, in one respect, I am obliged to name you as a defendant in this 
lawsuit.  On the other hand, I understand that you are less culpable than 
these other characters and to the extent you are willing to provide me 
information, I would appreciate the opportunity to hear that information 
from you and you know, maybe resolve these issues before you get named 
as a defendant in this lawsuit. 

Take a look at my website.  Take a look at what’s happened in this case. I 
assume you already know about it.  If you’d like to talk my number is 330-
285-2998.   

9Dr. Fonner testified via affidavit:  “He asked me about preferred clinics and any deals with KNR, and I 
told him I don’t know anything about that issue and that I don’t have any agreements with KNR.”  This is 
a witness who was sued by KNR and, if anything, should be adverse.  Yet, Dr. Fonner told the truth:  no 
quid pro quo. 
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I just want you to know I am open minded about this and how you can 
provide information to us and get out of this unscathed relatively.  So you 
know, take me at my word, understand I am a man of integrity or not, 
again, 330-285-2998  

Thanks  

Undersigned counsel does not represent Dr. Fonner and takes no position as to whether 

the message above is on the edge of propriety or is actionable.  However, it certainly goes to 

Attorney Pattakos’ “unclean hands” when trying to argue Defendants are intimidating Attorney 

Horton.  The only time Defendants’ counsel spoke with Attorney Horton, his counsel was 

present.   Plaintiffs’ counsel talked with him “many times” without counsel.  And yet, somehow 

Defendants’ Notice of Deposition is a tactic to scare the witness into silence?  Of course not.  As 

stated above, that is preposterous.  Unlike Attorney Pattakos’ action, who is willing to threaten a 

lawsuit if a witness does not provide information. 

III. ARGUMENT AND LAW 

A. Defendants Properly Noticed Robert Horton’s Deposition 

1. Defendants Complied with Ohio Civil Rule 30(A) and the Local Rules 

The Defendants certainly have the right to take Mr. Horton’s deposition, pursuant to the 

plain language of Ohio Rule of Civil Procedure 30(A).  Civil Rule 30(A) controls when 

depositions upon oral examination may be taken, stating: 

After commencement of the action, any party may take the testimony of 
any person, including a party, by deposition upon oral examination.  

The Defendants issued 5 Notices of Deposition, attached hereto as Exhibits “A” through 

“E”.  Thus, the Defendants provided proper Notice of the deposition under Rule 30(B)(1), which 

provides, in pertinent part, as follows:  

A party desiring to take the deposition of any person upon oral 
examination shall give reasonable notice in writing to every other party to 
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the action. The notice shall state the time and place for taking the 
deposition and the name and address of each person to be examined, if 
known, and, if the name is not known, a general description sufficient to 
identify the person or the particular class or group to which the person 
belongs.  

Summit County local rule 17.02 requires parties to confer on scheduling, which was done 

with respect to Attorney Horton’s deposition.  In fact, the date, time, and location for the 

deposition are all agreed upon. 

2. A Subpoena was NOT REQUIRED to be Served on Attorney Horton 

First, Attorney Horton is under subpoena.10  Second, and more importantly, the witness is 

represented by counsel, Attorney Thomas Skidmore, who represented that Attorney Horton will 

appear at a mutually convenient time for his deposition without the need for a subpoena.  

Nothing in the Ohio Civil Rules requires a subpoena.  Rather Civil Rule 30(A) states attendance 

of a witness deponent “may” be compelled by a subpoena.  The words “may” and “shall” have 

specific meaning under Ohio law.  “May” is permissible; “shall” is mandatory.  The Civil Rules 

use the word “may”, meaning the rules do not REQUIRE a subpoena.   And, of course, such a 

requirement would upend civil discovery, as depositions are taken by agreement of the 

deponent’s counsel every work day in Ohio, without the need for a subpoena.   

The Plaintiff is unable to cite to a single case in Ohio for the proposition that any of the 

Defendants’ five Notices of Deposition are not valid.  Plaintiffs’ counsel cites to no flaws in the 

deposition notices, because there were none.  Plaintiffs’ counsel cites to no scheduling conflicts, 

as all counsel in this case, the witness, and counsel for the witness have agreed upon date, time, 

and location for the deposition. 

10Attorney Horton’s personal counsel accepted service of a subpoena issued by the Defendants for the 
February 25, 2019, deposition.  The subpoena was properly served and Notice of Service was properly 
filed and served.  However, this does not change the fact that the rules do not require a subpoena 
(especially when the witness has agreed to attend voluntarily and is represented by counsel). 
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3. Plaintiffs’ Counsel cannot Cite ANY Ohio Rules or Law in Support 

Since Ohio law does not support him, Plaintiffs’ counsel cites to In re Oxbow Carbon 

LLC Unitholder Litigation, Ch. 2017 Del. Ch. LEXIS 135, at ** (July 28, 2017).  Plaintiffs’ 

counsel claims this case supports his request to question Mr. Horton first because he has the 

burden of proof.  Such is not the law in Ohio, or Defendants would never have an opportunity to 

notice a deposition and proceed with questioning first.  Moreover, Plaintiffs’ counsel reliance on 

In re Oxbow is completely misplaced, and the meaning of the case was completely 

misrepresented to this Court.    

In re Oxbow is an unpublished Memorandum Opinion from a Chancery Court in 

Delaware regarding the Order of questioning at a hearing when both sides agree a witness will 

only be called once at trial.  The case does not involve deposition testimony at all and has no 

applicability to Ohio law.  If Plaintiffs’ counsel wants the Court to adopt In re Oxbow as 

controlling procedural case law in this case, then counsel should consider the impact it would 

have at the trial of this matter.  Under In re Oxbow, if Plaintiffs’ counsel calls a current KNR 

owner such as Attorney Nestico as an adverse witness during his case-in-chief, the 

DEFENDANTS would have a right to complete their direct examination of Mr. Nestico before 

Plaintiffs’ counsel cross-examines him.  This has never been the law of Ohio. 

            The only other case relied upon by Plaintiffs is In re Convergent Techs. Securities 

Litigation, 108 F.R.D. 328 (N.D.Cal.1985).  The Plaintiffs represent that this California case, 

which has never been cited by an Ohio state court ever, stands for the proposition that 

Defendants’ Notice of Deposition “impose[s] an undue burden because Defendants have most of 

the evidence about their own behavior.”   To the contrary, the case had absolutely nothing 

whatsoever to do with the order of questioning witnesses at deposition.  In fact, the case has 
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nothing to do with depositions whatsoever.  The case concerns “contention” interrogatories and 

when they become appropriate during discovery.11  This case should be absolutely disregarded as 

wholly inapplicable to the deposition of Attorney Robert Horton. 

Moreover, Plaintiffs’ counsel knows the above cases do not apply, consistent with 

numerous email correspondence between undersigned counsel and Attorney Pattakos.  

Defendants have even stated they would reconsider their position if Attorney Pattakos could 

provide any Ohio law at all supporting his position (See Exhibit “Q”): 

As expected, you cite no Ohio case law construing the Ohio Civil Rules 
consistent with your position.  Not one.  Not even in dicta.  Instead, you 
cite to the Delaware Chancery court.  Seriously?     At least I can provide 
you some federal cases.  See, for example:  Schlien v Wyeth Farms 2012 
U.S. Dist. LEXIS 189857 (S.D. Georgia) and Dargis v. Wyeth, Inc., 2012 
U.S. Dist. LEXIS 189881 (Dist. Court of Minnesota), which provide that 
“The first party to serve a valid notice of deposition is entitled to priority 
of questioning at that deposition.” In Dargis, the Plaintiff argued it had the 
right to question Plaintiff’s expert first, because the burden of proof 
belonged to the Plaintiff.  However, the Dargis court did not accept that 
reasoning and stated, “It has long been the custom and practice in 
Minnesota that the party who first serves a valid notice of deposition 
‘controls’ that deposition” which includes assuming priority in 
questioning.   These are certainly more persuasive than your cases and 
consistent with the letter and the intent of the Ohio Civil Rules.  When my 
partners doing research told me they found zero Ohio case law supporting 
your position, I told them you claimed legal support existed so look again. 
 It’s just simply so basic under the Ohio Civil Rules that the person 
noticing the deposition goes first that no one has raised your warped 
interpretation with Ohio courts.   Now, if you have Ohio precedent, and 
not a Chancery Court in Delaware, please send to me and I will analyze.     

11California case law is not required to examine “contention” interrogatories under Ohio law.  

Rather, the Ohio Rules of Civil Procedure expressly address AND ALLOW “contention” 

interrogatories, as does the case Ohio case law construing these rules.  “Contention” 

interrogatories will be addressed in a separate Motion to Compel, as Plaintiffs continue to rely on 

this California case in refusing to answer Defendants’ “contention” interrogatories despite the 

clear requirement to do so under the Ohio Rules of Civil Procedure.
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Also, please stop with the baseless allegations.  You throw out accusations 
against me that fly in the face of what the witness and his attorney have 
told you - and then you ask me to talk in an attempt to resolve things. 
 Perhaps if you refrained from unnecessary and untrue personal attacks, I 
would be more willing to hop on the phone with you rather than want to 
talk in person with another lawyer to witness the conversation. Mr. Horton 
and his attorney, Mr. Skidmore, will both tell you I never once threatened, 
harassed, or coerced them.  Mr. Horton was represented.  He was under 
oath.  He told the truth.  You wish the truth was different, but he says what 
he says.  Some of his testimony is helpful for your case, and some is good 
for my case. That’s often how it goes with witnesses, especially 
disgruntled ex-employees. More importantly for this conversation, though, 
is the fact that Mr. Horton’s testimony was provided in a proper 
fashion and without any coercion.   You again attempt to bait me into 
talking about the merits of the suit against Mr. Horton, but you know there 
is a confidentiality agreement in place. So, I will again not bite.  And you 
should probably stop claiming Mr. Horton said or did things that could 
potentially violate that Confidentiality Agreement.  For someone who 
purports to be Mr. Horton’s friend, you have done him a huge disfavor by 
your continued attempts to attribute comments to him that are 180 degrees 
opposite of his sworn affidavit testimony.  You have misled the Courts 
and the public with those baseless claims.  I will assume that those 
misrepresentations were unintentional and that you were just getting 
caught up in zealous advocacy.  If you are his friend, you will stop using 
Mr. Horton as a pawn for your own crusade.   

Now, can we leave the accusations aside and try to deal with just 
the discovery issue at hand?  If you feel the need, I will let you have the 
last word.  You can respond however you want to this email. You 
can accuse me of whatever ethical violation you want and call me 
whatever names you want.   I won’t respond.  I will let you have the last 
accusation - as long as it means we can move on to the real issue - trying 
to resolve a discovery dispute without court intervention.  

As also sent to Attorney Pattakos concerning this issue (See Exhibit “R”): 

Anderson’s Ohio Personal Injury Litigation Manual 2012 edition, states 
that the party that notices the deposition controls the order of questioning, 
and the manual gives several examples such as: 

1.  If the plaintiff demands the examination of a defendant 
physician, the plaintiff’s attorney begins the examination.  

2. If the defendant demands an examination of the plaintiff, 
defendant’s attorney begins the examination. 

CV-2016-09-3928 DPEL01/25/2019 12:33:44 PMMICHAEL, KATHRYN Page 33 of 110

Sandra Kurt, Summit County Clerk of Courts



4822-2499-5206.1 34 

3. For cases in which the plaintiff notices a deposition of 
plaintiff’s own expert to preserve the testimony for trial, 
plaintiff begins the questioning.  

While not a case and not controlling, Anderson’s Ohio Personal Injury Litigation Manual 

2012 edition, is certainly more persuasive than a Delaware Chancery court case that does not 

even address the issue. 

CONCLUSION 

The Defendants have been accused of serious civil violations with an entire lack of 

evidence other than Plaintiffs’ counsel’s claim that the Plaintiffs’ “key” witness, Robert Horton, 

will testify to certain substantive matters.  The Defendants have a right to depose this witness, 

and the Defendants have issued 5 valid Notices of Deposition.  The Defendants requested and 

noticed the deposition of Mr. Horton more than a year before Plaintiffs’ counsel.  The Ohio 

Rules of Civil Procedure permit Defendants to ask questions of Mr. Horton first at deposition, 

and Plaintiffs’ Motion for a Protective Order should be denied (on substantive grounds regarding 

Mr. Horton’s deposition and “as moot” regarding Mr. Petti’s deposition). 

Respectfully submitted, 

/s/ Thomas P. Mannion 
Thomas P. Mannion (0062551) 
LEWIS BRISBOIS BISGAARD & SMITH LLP 
1375 E. Ninth Street, Suite 2250 
Cleveland, OH 44114 
216-344-9422; (Fax) 216-344-9421 
Tom.mannion@lewisbrisbois.com

Counsel for Defendants, Kisling, Nestico & 
Redick, LLC, Alberto Nestico, Esq., and Robert 
Redick, Esq. 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

The undersigned certifies that a copy of the foregoing was filed electronically with the 

Court and sent via email to counsel for all parties on this 25th day of January 2019.  The parties, 

through counsel, may also access this document through the Court’s electronic docket system. 

Respectfully submitted, 

/s/ Thomas P. Mannion 
Thomas P. Mannion (0062551) 
LEWIS BRISBOIS BISGAARD & SMITH LLP 

Counsel for Defendants, Kisling, Nestico & 
Redick, LLC, Alberto Nestico, Esq., and Robert 
Redick, Esq. 
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IN THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS
COUNTY OF SUMMIT

MEMBER WILLIAMS, ) CASE NO. 2016-09-3928
)

         Plaintiff, )  
)

         vs. ) TRANSCRIPT OF PROCEEDINGS
)

KISLING, NESTICO & 
REDICK, LLC. 

)
)
)

        Defendant.  ) VOLUME 1 (Of 1 Volume) 

                    - - -
APPEARANCES:

 SUBODH CHANDRA, Attorney at Law,
 PETER PATTAKOS, Attorney at Law, 
 DONALD P. SCREEN, Attorney at Law, 

on behalf of the Plaintiff.

JAMES M. POPSON, Attorney at Law, 
BRIAN E. ROOF, Attorney at Law,

on behalf of the Defendant. 

PRESENT:
R. ERIC KENNEDY, Attorney at Law.
THOMAS P. MANNION Attorney at Law.

                   - - -

       BE IT REMEMBERED that upon the hearing of 

the above-entitled matter in the Court of Common 

Pleas, Summit County, Ohio, before THE HONORABLE 

ALISON BREAUX, Judge Presiding, commencing on 

April 5, 2017, the  following proceedings were 

had being a Transcript of Proceedings:  

Maryann Ruby, RPR 
Official Court Reporter
Summit County Courthouse

 209 South High Street 
Akron, OH 44308 
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And then every other document, to 

resolve Defendants' concerns, can be 

destroyed, otherwise turned over, back to 

KN&R once this process is complete. 

MR. ROOF: I would think 

that you would have to turn over all 

documents, Your Honor.  He can't be the 

one deciding which ones are relevant and 

which ones aren't relevant. 

THE COURT: You know, he has 

to turn over anything that he intends to 

use.  

But, you know, this is not a 

criminal matter.  He doesn't have to turn 

over things that may or may not be 

exculpatory as far as I know.  But if he 

intends to use anything, then that 

certainly has to be provided.  

And, you know, I actually -- I want 

to lay eyes on this before I can actually 

rule on the protective order. 

MR. ROOF: That's fine, Your 

Honor. 

MR. PATTAKOS: Your Honor, I 

would just like to add that if Mr. Roof's 
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requests were granted, this Court would be 

presented with just a huge amount of 

documents that this Court would have to 

review, that would take a really long time 

to go through if Mr. Horton were required 

to turn everything over. 

MR. ROOF: Can I ask, are 

those all documents that he took from 

KN&R?  

MR. PATTAKOS: What I 

understand, what I can represent on the 

record is that Mr. Horton has his hard 

drive from when he left KN&R.  He has his 

e-mails from when he left KN&R, and I did 

not think that was a secret. 

MR. ROOF: But that's in 

violation of his confidentiality 

agreement. 

MR. PATTAKOS: That is between 

Defendants and Mr. Horton.  

And contained in these documents 

are evidence of what we believe is fraud; 

and, therefore, a confidentiality 

agreement -- and these are arguments that 

can be presented to this Court in the 
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that you were concerned about.  

And that when we prepared this 

proposed second amended compliant, which 

was underway, based on the information we 

had gathered from witnesses and whistle 

blowers that came forward in response to 

the first time we publicized the first 

complaint, and we gathered that new 

information and those new documents 

through our own investigation, through no 

discovery help whatsoever from the 

Defendants.  

When we gathered that information, 

we then said:  Judge Breaux has said that 

there is a problem with the first amended 

compliant.  We disagree with her.  But now 

we really have to go the extra mile to 

show her.  

And we are going to quote from 

these documents in that proposed second 

amended compliant.  We will attach the 

documents to the proposed second amended 

complaint so that it is inescapable.  That 

was our primary objective.  

The second objective was, again, to 
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be able to reach out to witnesses and 

other potential whistle blowers to gather 

even more.  Because what we have learned 

involving KN&R is what we learned from Rob 

Horton at the beginning was just the tip 

of the iceberg of the number of 

fraudulent, corrupt kickback schemes in 

which this firm is involved.  

We are as certain of that as we can 

be now based on what we have learned from 

witnesses, whistle blowers, insiders, 

former employees, former lawyers who 

worked there, other former clients and 

from other lawyers who compete and are 

victims as a result of the corrupt efforts 

by KN&R to corner the market.  

So, last few points, Your Honor, 

those were our objectives.  Not the things 

they are accusing us of.  

And we respectfully and humbly 

submit that it was unfair for the Court to 

react to their accusation without giving 

us due process as was promised in the 

telephone hearing, without giving us a 

chance to respond.  But that is done now.  
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IN THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS
COUNTY OF SUMMIT

MEMBER WILLIAMS, et 
al., 

)
)

CASE NO. CV-2016-09-3928

         Plaintiffs, )  
)

         vs. ) TRANSCRIPT OF PROCEEDINGS
)

KISLING, NESTICO & 
REDICK, LLC, et al., 

)
)

        Defendants.  ) VOLUME 1 (Of 1 Volume) 

            - - -
APPEARANCES:

 PETER PATTAKOS, Attorney at Law,
 DEAN WILLIAMS, Attorney at Law, 
 JOSH COHEN, Attorney at Law, 

on behalf of the Plaintiffs.

JAMES M. POPSON, Attorney at Law, 
BRIAN E. ROOF, Attorney at Law,
THOMAS P. MANNION, Attorney at Law, 
R. ERIC KENNEDY, Attorney at Law, 

on behalf of the Defendants. 
 

John F. Hill, Attorney at Law, 
Meleah M. Kinlow, Attorney at Law, 

on behalf of Defendant Minas 
Floros, D.C.

                   - - -
       BE IT REMEMBERED that upon the hearing of 

the above-entitled matter in the Court of Common 

Pleas, Summit County, Ohio, before THE HONORABLE 

PATRICIA A. COSGROVE, Judge Presiding, commencing 

on January 5, 2018, the following proceedings 

were had being a Transcript of Proceedings:  

Maryann Ruby, RPR 
Official Court Reporter
Summit County Courthouse
209 South High Street 
Akron, OH 44308 
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interest or kickbacks.  

And we ran searches of their 

documents for, "Liberty Capital," "Ciro 

Cerrato," and we have produced those 

documents.  So on our end, we have limited 

and tried to limit the scope of the 

document production.  

We have produced those documents.  

Those are part of the 3,800 documents.  

And those documents show no ownership 

interest or kickbacks going on with Ciro 

Cerrato or Liberty Capital. 

MR. PATTAKOS: Your Honor, if I 

may respond.  

They are, of course, picking very 

selective things that they have done 

without a complete picture that it's 

impossible to address the meaning of that.  

What I can tell you is that we have 

identified terms, essential terms:  

"Investigation fee," "signup fee," "SU 

fee," "investigator," "narrative fee," 

"narrative report," "referrals," "Liberty 

Capital," "Ciro," "Cerrato."  

These search terms, they have told 
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us if running a universal search, not just 

a few key witnesses that they have 

identified, if there are other KNR 

attorneys talking about Liberty Capital, 

we are entitled to discovery that.  

And we have reason to believe, 

based on what Mr. Horton has told us, that 

there were attorneys inside KNR who were 

very concerned about the relationship with 

Liberty Capital.  

If those e-mails exist, we are 

entitled to those.  And they have shown us 

the number of documents that these basic 

terms have turned up:  3,685 for 

"investigation fee," 95 for "signup fee," 

71 for "SU fee," 49,000 for 

"investigator," 3,121 for "narrative fee," 

16,000 for "narrative report," and et 

cetera.  

We simply can't say that they don't 

have to search these and that we are going 

to proceed with their handpicked, 

cherry-picked selection of documents. 

THE COURT: Okay.  Look.  Sit 

down.  I don't want to hear any more.  
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From: Peter Pattakos <peter@pattakoslaw.com>

Sent: Friday, November 02, 2018 4:12 PM

To: Tom.Mannion@lewisbrisbois.com

Cc: thomasskidmore@akrontruthandjustice.com; jpopson@sutter-law.com

Subject: Horton's deposition

External Email

Mr. Skidmore,  

Confirming Tom's message below but would add that we probably will not be ready to proceed with Mr. Horton 
until the second half of January at the earliest. Can you please send us some dates in that timeframe that would 
work?  

Thanks.  

Peter Pattakos 
The Pattakos Law Firm LLC 
101 Ghent Road 
Fairlawn, OH 44333 
330.836.8533 office; 330.285.2998 mobile 
peter@pattakoslaw.com
www.pattakoslaw.com

--- 

This email might contain confidential or privileged information. If you are not the intended recipient, please delete it and alert us. 

On Thu, Nov 1, 2018 at 9:43 AM Mannion, Tom <Tom.Mannion@lewisbrisbois.com> wrote: 

Tom: 

Peter and I agreed to 30-day extension and moving depositions.  We had tentative, then it was off, now we've 
filed stipulated motion with Court.  Peter want to take Mr. Nestico before Mr. Horton.  We might be looking at 
December/January for Mr. Horton now.  I have trial 12/3 and 12/10, so it will have to be after that.    

Thanks, 

Tom 
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Thomas P. Mannion
Attorney | Cleveland Managing Partner 
Tom.Mannion@lewisbrisbois.com

T: 216.344.9467  F: 216.344.9421  M: 216.870.3780

1375 E. 9th Street, Suite 2250, Cleveland, OH 44114  |  LewisBrisbois.com

Representing clients from coast to coast. View our locations nationwide.

This e-mail may contain or attach privileged, confidential or protected information intended only for the use of the intended recipient. If you are not the 
intended recipient, any review or use of it is strictly prohibited. If you have received this e-mail in error, you are required to notify the sender, then 
delete this email and any attachment from your computer and any of your electronic devices where the message is stored.
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*****Monday, October 16, 2017

  P R O C E E D I N G S

-  -  - 

THE COURT:       All right.  How is 

everyone?  Not bad for a Monday?  

MR. PATTAKOS: Especially after 

a Brown's game.  

THE COURT:  Is that just to 

put the misery out where it belongs on a 

Sunday?

So, where are we?  Setting a trial 

date at this point?  

MR. POPSON:  No.  

THE COURT: No.  Okay.  Tell 

me why.  

Do you want everyone to identify 

themselves?  We'll go around the table.  

MR. POPSON: This is Attorney 

Jim Popson on behalf of the defendants.

MR. KENNEDY:  Eric Kennedy, 

defendants.  

MR. MANNNION: Tom Mannion, 

defendants.  

MR. ROOF: Brian Roof, 

defendants.  
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trying to say?  

THE COURT: Enough.  

Gentlemen, enough.  Honestly.

MR. MANNION:      That is 

outrageous. 

THE COURT: You haven't even 

reviewed the document.  Don't jump to 

conclusions either. 

Obviously, I'm not going to review 

this right now.  I will look that over.  

So, this has not yet been attached 

to anything, but you are going to make 

reference to it in your motion?  

MR. POPSON:       We filed it just 

as if we would file a deposition or any 

piece of evidence.

MR. MANNION:      Just so you know, 

Your Honor, he was represented by counsel, 

Mr. Horton.  

THE COURT:        Okay.  Anything 

else?  

MR. POPSON:       That's all we 

have.  Let me ask these guys.  

MR. PATTAKOS:     Your Honor --

MR. POPSON:   We don't have 
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From: Peter Pattakos [mailto:peter@pattakoslaw.com]  
Sent: Tuesday, November 20, 2018 9:48 AM 
To: Tom.Mannion@lewisbrisbois.com; jpopson@sutter-law.com 
Subject: [EXT] Re: Tomorrow’s Depositions 

Tom,  

I told you that the witnesses are on notice that the depositions are off. Please stop with the crazy emails.  

Peter Pattakos 
The Pattakos Law Firm LLC 
101 Ghent Road 
Fairlawn, OH 44333 
330.836.8533 office; 330.285.2998 mobile 
peter@pattakoslaw.com
www.pattakoslaw.com

--- 

This email might contain confidential or privileged information. If you are not the intended recipient, please delete it and alert us. 

On Tue, Nov 20, 2018 at 9:35 AM Mannion, Tom <Tom.Mannion@lewisbrisbois.com> wrote: 

Peter:

Read the very subpoena you issued:

It is an obvious undue burden on a person subject to a subpoena for deposition to perform the following activities 
when the deposition has been canceled:

               1) Cancel all activities for an entire day;

               2) Lose money from not working that day;

               3) Drive hours to the place you were subpoened; and

               4)  Drive hours back from the place you were subpoened.
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You were responsible for issuance and service of the subpoena and therefore you were required to take reasonable 
steps to avoid imposing this undue burden on the doctor.  While your subpoena indicated the deponent "may" contact 
you by phone or email, no reason existed for the deponent to do so.  You provided a specific date and time for the 
deposition and the witness knew from the subpoena that sanctions were possible for not showing up at that date and 
time: 

It's one thing to "forget" or have something "slip by."  But you are justifying your actions in not notifying witnesses 
when the subpoena is off and still refuse to tell us whether you notified any of the witnesses for today and tomorrow 
that the subpoenas are off.  This is highly improper conduct and we ask that you immediately cease and desist using 
your authority as an officer of the Court to issue subpoenas solely to direct witnesses to drive to your place of business 
so you can interview them.  Moreover, if that wasn't your purpose, then we ask you immediately cease and desist your 
practice of failing to tell a witness YOU subpoenaed that his or her attendance is not required if the deposition is not 
going forward.

Tom

From: Mannion, Tom  
Sent: Tuesday, November 20, 2018 8:51 AM 
To: Peter Pattakos <peter@pattakoslaw.com>; James M. Popson <jpopson@sutter-law.com> 
Subject: RE: [EXT] Re: Tomorrow’s Depositions

If a subpoena is no longer valid because the deposition is off, then you have an absolute duty to notify the witness.

Thomas P. Mannion
Attorney | Cleveland Managing Partner 
Tom.Mannion@lewisbrisbois.com

T: 216.344.9467  F: 216.344.9421  M: 216.870.3780

The linked image cannot be displayed.  The file may have been moved, renamed, or deleted. Verify  that the link points to the correct file and location.
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1375 E. 9th Street, Suite 2250, Cleveland, OH 44114  |  LewisBrisbois.com

Representing clients from coast to coast. View our locations nationwide.

This e-mail may contain or attach privileged, confidential or protected information intended only for the use of the intended recipient. If you are not the 
intended recipient, any review or use of it is strictly prohibited. If you have received this e-mail in error, you are required to notify the sender, then 
delete this email and any attachment from your computer and any of your electronic devices where the message is stored.

From: Peter Pattakos [mailto:peter@pattakoslaw.com]  
Sent: Tuesday, November 20, 2018 8:46 AM 
To: James M. Popson <jpopson@sutter-law.com> 
Cc: Mannion, Tom <Tom.Mannion@lewisbrisbois.com> 
Subject: [EXT] Re: Tomorrow’s Depositions

External Email

That is ridiculous. All of the subpoenas I've issued specifically instruct the witness to contact me to confirm a 
specific date and time and I make all reasonable efforts to communicate with the witnesses. It is not my 
responsibility when a witness fails to communicate with me about a subpoena and shows up for a deposition 
that was never confirmed.   

Peter Pattakos

The Pattakos Law Firm LLC

101 Ghent Road

Fairlawn, OH 44333

330.836.8533 office; 330.285.2998 mobile

peter@pattakoslaw.com

www.pattakoslaw.com

---

This email might contain confidential or privileged information. If you are not the intended recipient, please delete it and alert us.

On Mon, Nov 19, 2018 at 7:42 PM James M. Popson <jpopson@sutter-law.com> wrote: 
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Because you cannot subpoena private interviews. Is there a reason you issued a subpoena, then told me not to 
attend and left a witness thinking they have a legal obligation to appear? 

Jim 

Sent from my iPhone 

James M. Popson 

Sutter O'Connell Co. 
Direct:         216.928.4504 
Mobile:         216.570.7356 

This is a privileged and confidential communication.  If you are not the intended recipient, you must:  (1) 
notify the sender of the error; (2) destroy this communication entirely, including deletion of all associated 
attachment files from all individual and network storage devices; and (3) refrain from copying or 
disseminating this communication by any means. 

On Nov 19, 2018, at 6:17 PM, Peter Pattakos <peter@pattakoslaw.com<mailto:peter@pattakoslaw.com>> 
wrote: 

Is there a particular reason you are concerned about this? It should be clear to all who need to know that the 
next deposition Plaintiffs will be taking in this lawsuit is Dr. Gunning's. 

Peter Pattakos 
The Pattakos Law Firm LLC 
101 Ghent Road 
Fairlawn, OH 44333 
330.836.8533 office; 330.285.2998 mobile 
peter@pattakoslaw.com<mailto:peter.pattakos@chandralaw.com> 
www.pattakoslaw.com<http://www.pattakoslaw.com/> 

--- 

This email might contain confidential or privileged information. If you are not the intended recipient, please 
delete it and alert us. 

On Mon, Nov 19, 2018 at 6:08 PM Mannion, Tom 
<Tom.Mannion@lewisbrisbois.com<mailto:Tom.Mannion@lewisbrisbois.com>> wrote: 

Peter: 

Did you let the witnesses set for the next two days know the depositions are off? 

EXHIBIT V

CV-2016-09-3928 DPEL01/25/2019 12:33:44 PMMICHAEL, KATHRYN Page 109 of 110

Sandra Kurt, Summit County Clerk of Courts



5

[cid:LB-Logo_7c9c5bd0-0a1e-47b8-a3b1-a4b5cdfed8fa.png]  Thomas P. 
Mannion<http://lewisbrisbois.com/attorneys/mannion-thomas-p> 
Attorney | Cleveland Managing Partner 
Tom.Mannion@lewisbrisbois.com<mailto:Tom.Mannion@lewisbrisbois.com> 

T: 216.344.9467  F: 216.344.9421  M: 216.870.3780 

1375 E. 9th Street, Suite 2250, Cleveland, OH 44114  |  LewisBrisbois.com<http://lewisbrisbois.com/> 

Representing clients from coast to coast. View our locations 
nationwide.<http://lewisbrisbois.com/about/locations> 

This e-mail may contain or attach privileged, confidential or protected information intended only for the use 
of the intended recipient. If you are not the intended recipient, any review or use of it is strictly prohibited. If 
you have received this e-mail in error, you are required to notify the sender, then delete this email and any 
attachment from your computer and any of your electronic devices where the message is stored. 
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